



Journal of Chromatography B, 689 (1997) 261-271

Review

Hair analysis, a novel tool in forensic and biomedical sciences: new chromatographic and electrophoretic/electrokinetic analytical strategies

F. Tagliaro^{a,*}, F.P. Smith^b, Z. De Battisti^a, G. Manetto, M. Marigo

"Institute of Forensic Medicine, University of Verona, Policlinico Borgo Roma, 37134 Verona, Italy bDepartment of Justice Sciences, The University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, USA

Abstract

Hair analysis for abused drugs is recognized as a powerful tool to investigate exposure of subjects to these substances. In fact, drugs permeate the hair matrix at the root level and above. Evidence of their presence remains incorporated into the hair stalk for the entire life of this structure. Most abusive drugs (e.g. opiates, cocaine, amphetamines, cannabinoids etc.) and several therapeutic drugs (e.g. antibiotics, theophylline, β_2 -agonists, etc.) have been demonstrated to be detectable in the hair of chronic users. Hence, hair analysis has been proposed to investigate drug abuses for epidemiological, clinical, administrative and forensic purposes, such as in questions of drug-related fatalities and revocation of driving licences, alleged drug addiction or drug abstinence in criminal or civil cases and for the follow-up of detoxication treatments. However, analytical and interpretative problems still remain and these limit the acceptance of this methodology, especially when the results from hair analysis represent a single piece of evidence and can not be supported by concurrent data. The present paper presents an updated review (with 102 references) of the modern techniques for hair analysis, including screening methods (e.g. immunoassays) and more sophisticated methodologies adopted for result confirmation and/or for research purposes, with special emphasis on gas chromatography–mass spectrometry, liquid chromatography and capillary electrophoresis.

Keywords: Reviews; Hair analysis; Opiates; Cocaine; Amphetamines; Cannabinoids; Antibiotics; Theophylline; β₂-Agonists

Contents

| 1. Introduction | 262 |
|---------------------------------------------|-----|
| 2. Target drugs in hair | 263 |
| 3. Analytical methods | 264 |
| 3.1. Immunological methods | |
| 3.2. Chromatographic methods | 265 |
| 3.3. Electrophoretic/electrokinetic methods | 267 |
| 3.4. Other methods | 268 |
| 4. Conclusion | 268 |
| Acknowledgments | 268 |
| References | 268 |

^{*}Corresponding author.

1. Introduction

In the scientific community, until recently, hair analysis was considered a quite esoteric method typical of forensic toxicology for investigating suspected poisoning in human remains. Famous was the finding of arsenic in Napoleon's hair [1] and the consequent debate about the supposed poisoning of the Emperor.

Another field of application concerned trace metals (e.g. zinc, lead, cadmium, iodine, copper, calcium, magnesium), with the aim of diagnosing nutritional deficiencies, learning problems or mental illnesses (schizophrenia, Down's syndrome) and general diseases (cystic fibrosis, coeliac disease). Although based on some intriguing evidence, hair analysis for trace metals, except in some instances, has never gained a general acceptance, because of unresolved problems posed by environmental contamination of samples and variability of results in different populations.

Even though the deposition of drugs in skin and skin annexes (hair, nails) had since long been demonstrated by dermatologists [2], only much later great attention was focused onto hair as a biological sample for drug analysis.

In reality, the international concern about the worldwide spread of drug abuses, with the related socio-economic problems, has prompted extensive research on methods to monitor this phenomenon, particularly in groups of population at risk (e.g. students, prisoners etc.) and in workers with a special degree of responsibility toward the collective whole (e.g. pilots, drivers, etc.).

As is well known, urine testing is the standard tool to investigate use of illicit drugs by individuals, but this method has shown several pitfalls, among which we mention the short time window (2–3 days for many drugs) during which the drug is detectable in this fluid (with consequent low epidemiological sensitivity), the embarrassing sample collection (with some potential for cheating), the impossibility of repeating the sampling later to control a previous disputed sample, the poor correlation between the "degree of addiction" and the actual drug concentration.

On the other hand, hair has been proposed as a

record of past chronic drug intake, free from enzymatic metabolism, difficult to cheat, and proportional to drug ingestion.

After the pioneering paper by Baumgartner et al. [3], in a few years different researchers reported that the hair of chronic users contains a variety of drugs, including opiates, barbiturates, amphetamines, anti-depressants, cocaine, phencyclidine, nicotine etc. [4]. Evidence of compounds embedded in this matrix was reported long after drug exposure, as witnessed by the finding of cocaine and metabolites in the hair of Peruvian mummies dating back to AD 1000 [5].

Hence, hair was proposed as an "alternative" or a "complement" to urinalysis offering several advantages, such as easy sample collection, sample stability at room temperature for a long time and, above all, a much wider time window of detection (months), with the goal of correlating chronologically the addiction behaviour with the distribution and concentration of the drugs in the hair stalk.

In recent years, extensive research has been dedicated to investigate the different ways of drug sequestration into hair, to develop analytical methods suitable for this unconventional matrix, and to verify the potential sources of errors.

Even if, at present, the pathways of drug entry are still not fully understood, it appears that drugs from blood and skin secretions (but also from the external environment) can enter the hair. The hair constituents in which drugs are bound or incorporated are also unclear: cheratin, melanin granules and the cell membrane complex have been hypothesized [100].

It has also been observed that some lipophilic compounds are found in higher concentrations in hair than hydrophilic metabolites, even if the latter have a longer half-life in circulating fluids, e.g. 6-monoacetylmorphine versus morphine [6] and cocaine versus benzoylecgonine [7].

Hair growth averages between 0.9 and 1.2 cm/month, with some differences depending on anatomical location, sex, race, age and with a relatively large interindividual variability [8]. Since one theory of drug incorporation in the hair matrix is that it takes place at the root level, it has been hypothesized that information on time and severity of addiction could be obtained from segmental analysis of hair

[8]. Some reports support this hypothesis, but on this point serious questions have been raised [9] and there is not complete agreement in the literature.

Some other important issues are still open in hair analysis. First of all, it has been demonstrated that hair can be contaminated from the environment, if exposed to solutions or airborne particles of drugs. Several attempts have been made to distinguish external contamination from the presence of drugs in hair due to active use [10], but this point is still highly controversial (just some examples can be found in Refs. [11-15]). Other controversies regard possible bias of the results due to color, age, gender, differences in the hair structure, the correlation between dosage and drug concentration in hair, the optimal sample treatment, the cut-off levels suitable for different purposes etc. The stability of drugs in hair, although generally considered excellent, has also been found less satisfactory after cosmetic treatments (e.g. bleaching and permanent waving) [101,102].

Despite some unresolved problems in both analytical aspects and interpretation of results, there is much interest in hair testing applications in clinical, epidemiological and legal environments [16].

Medical professionals and legal authorities in many jurisdictions use hair analysis to prove or exclude chronic (or repeated) use of illicit drugs in cases of:

- revocation of the driving licence for drug abuse and/or licence re-issuing after the claimed end of addiction:
- assessment of compliance to detoxication treatments:
- probation and parole monitoring;
- violation of laws on narcotics;
- drug-related deaths;
- child custody, adoption, divorce etc.;
- specific civil and criminal cases with allegation of drug abuse.

Employment-related hair testing has been proposed as a complement or an alternative to urinalyses, but serious questions remain about the appropriateness of basing decisions solely on hair

test results; thus, hair testing is generally not accepted in this context.

The increasing attention paid to hair analysis is paralleled by a great production of scientific literature, particularly in recent years. This means that no review can be comprehensive of all the analytical, physiological and applicative aspects. Hence, the present work is intended just to give a glimpse of the main current analytical methodologies applied to hair analysis, with a special focus on the most recent chromatographic and capillary electrophoretic techniques.

2. Target drugs in hair

A great variety of drugs has been reported as detectable in the hair of chronically treated subjects, but, for the forensic environment in which hair analysis has been developed, by far the main attention of researchers has up to now been paid to drugs of abuse.

Opiates and cocaine, because of their major social relevance in Europe and in the USA, respectively, have been studied with particular interest, as witnessed by three recent reviews (on opiates: [17], on cocaine: [18,19]).

Amphetamines were among the first drugs whose incorporation in hair was studied [20]. Japanese groups have traditionally concentrated their research on amphetamine and methamphetamine, as the traditionally abused drugs in the far East, but the recent spread of illicit stimulants, including amphetamine analogues and hallucinogenic amphetamines (e.g. methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA). methylenedioxyamphetamine (MDA) etc.) into the West has made this class of compounds the third most prevalent in hair analysis. This subject has been recently reviewed by Nakahara [21]; after this review a relevant paper on MDA and MDMA analysis has been published by Kintz et al. [22]. Lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) poses particular problems to analysts because of its rapid metabolism and low dosage; only recently has the incorporation of LSD in hair been demonstrated by Nakahara et al. [23], together with other hallucinogenic compounds such as MDA, MDMA and phencyclidine (PCP).

The use of marijuana and hashish is widespread worldwide, however, relatively few reports have been published on the detection of cannabis-related compounds in hair. This is probably due to the very low levels at which $\Delta 9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and, particularly, its metabolite 11-nor- $\Delta 9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol-9-carboxylic acid (THC-COOH) are detectable in this matrix. Moreover, because of the prevalent use of cannabis products by smoking, external contamination remains a major issue.

A recent research paper contains also a short review of the previous works in this field [24].

Although not illicit, nicotine can be considered pharmacologically close to abusive stimulants. The parent drug and its metabolite cotinine have been determined in the hair of smokers [25,26] and of subjects assuming nicotine [27], but also an important contribution from environmental exposure to nicotine vapours has been demonstrated [28]. Morphine, cocaine and nicotine/cotinine measurement in the hair of neonates has been examined as a means of quantifying fetal risk consequent to exposure to heroin, cocaine and nicotine during pregnancy [29–32].

Several therapeutic, but potentially toxic, drugs such as anti-depressants, antipsychotics and tranquillizers have been determined in hair; for tricyclic and tetracyclic anti-depressants readers can refer to the papers by Couper et al. [33,34] and for haloperidol to the papers by Uematsu et al. [35] and Matsuno et al. [36]. Benzodiazepine analysis in hair has also been published [37,38], as well as the determination of meprobamate [39]. The incorporation of phenobarbital [40,41] and other anti-epileptic drugs has been reported and their measurement in different sections of hair has been proposed to monitor the compliance to anti-epileptic therapy [42]. The anaesthetic drug fentanyl has been determined by Wang et al. [43], the antitussives dihydrocodeine and zipeprol by Sachs et al. [44] and Kintz et al. [45], respectively, and the analgesic dextromoramide by Kintz et al. [46].

Other compounds detected in hair include therapeutic drugs such as quinolone antibiotics ofloxacin and temafloxacin [47] and β_2 -agonists clenbuterol, salmeterol and salbutamol [48], susceptible also to illicit use as anabolizing agents.

Recently, some researchers have focused their attention also onto low-molecular-mass endogenous

substances which could theoretically be incorporated into the hair through mechanisms comparable to drugs. Although still preliminary, hydroxybutyric acid, a neurotransmitter, and biogenic polyamines (spermidine, spermine and putrescine) have been reported to be present in the hair of normal subjects [49], but the meaning of these findings is, at present, still obscure.

3. Analytical methods

Hair analysis requires a relatively complex and not yet standardized sample preparation. This includes washing steps to remove non-specific endogenous (sweat, sebum) and exogenous substances (environmental dusts, hair treatments) adsorbed onto the hair in order to expose a clean surface to the further extraction or digestion treatments. To this aim, the use of surfactants and shampoos, aqueous solutions and organic solvents (ethyl ether, 2-propanol, methanol, hexane, acetone, etc.) has been reported [8]. Particular effects have also been made to decontaminate hair from drugs possibly adsorbed from the environment in the form of powders, smokes or solutions, which could lead to misinterpretation of the results. This problem has recently been reviewed [50], but is still unresolved and, as above mentioned, is the subject of a fierce scientific debate [9-15], which is beyond the scope of the present paper. In any case, it has been demonstrated that heavily contaminated hair can not be entirely 'cleaned' by washing and that, on the other hand, extensive washings can also remove drugs present in hair due to personal use.

The washing step is generally followed by a further treatment to solubilize the drugs contained in the hair. This can be achieved in many different modes, including digestion of the hair matrix in alkali or with enzymes, incubation in acid media or in organic solvents to elute the analytes from the matrix without complete dissolution. The subject has been reviewed in detail by Chiarotti [51] and later discussed by Sachs and Moeller [52] and by Cirimele et al. [53].

In general, the mixture resulting from the incubation of hair in the digestion or extraction solutions is not suitable for direct analysis and must be further purified and concentrated using liquid-liquid (LLE) or solid-phase extraction methods (SPE). To the best of our knowledge, no papers exist reviewing the sample purification techniques used for hair analysis which, however, are similar to those adopted for the pre-treatment of biological fluids such as urine or blood. Supercritical fluid extraction (SFE) methods have recently become available for many matrices and analytes. SFE has been applied in hair analysis for opiates by Edder et al. [54], who used subcritical conditions, and for opiates, cocaine and, tentatively, cannabinoids by Cirimele et al. [55].

Hair analysis poses peculiar problems which can summarized as follows:

- frequently, only small amounts of the sample (20-50 mg) can be collected because of aesthetic reasons, raising the issue of specimen preservation for re-test;
- the hair matrix is complex and its composition variable (genetic and cosmetic treatments);
- analyte concentrations are low, ranging from ng/ mg (e.g. cocaine) to pg/mg (e.g. clenbuterol);
- often, medium-to-high sample throughput is needed:
- methods of analysis are not yet standardized, as well as quality control/quality assurance;
- the results should be defensible in court.

3.1. Immunological methods

Radioimmunoassay (RIA) was adopted since the introduction of hair analysis for drugs of abuse [3]. In fact, for screening purposes, this method meets almost all the needs of hair-analysis laboratories, particularly in terms of sensitivity, sample throughput and simplicity, and, consequently, it is still widely adopted as a first test. However, RIA methods are usually standardized for blood or urine testing and need to be thoroughly validated for the hair matrix [56]. Moreover, the need for radioactive reagents limits the application of RIA methods to the authorised laboratories.

The lack of sensitivity has hindered the application of most of the homogeneous phase non-radioisotopic methods (e.g. EMIT[®]); however, a commercial fluorescence polarization immunoassay was proposed

by Franceschin et al. [57] and by Kintz et al. [58] (see [59] for comments). Heterogeneous-phase immunoassays, and, particularly, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) are intrinsically more sensitive than immunoassays in the homogeneous phase, and recently have proved suitable for hair analysis [60,61].

The commercial availability of antisera specific for the analytes of interest and the cross-reactivity of antibodies towards structurally related compounds are well known limitations of immunometric methods, and they require confirmation with alternative techniques based on different analytical principles.

3.2. Chromatographic methods

The use of chromatographic techniques for the analysis of hair for drugs of abuse has already been reviewed by Moeller in 1992 [62]. Therefore, we can present here only a methodological update and a brief discussion on the different chromatographic choices. For references to specific methods, readers can refer also to the papers quoted in Section 2.

Thin-layer chromatography (TLC) with fluorescence detection was among the first methods to be applied to the determination of morphine in hair [63]. However, the limited mass sensitivity of the technique $(2-3~\mu g)$ required that as much 1 g of hair was collected, which is clearly unacceptable for real applications. This technique was further improved by using high-performance TLC (HPTLC) and the more sensitive dansyl derivatization [64]. However, the moderate mass sensitivity of TLC techniques and, more importantly, the inherent limits in the accurate quantitation have hindered the diffusion of planar chromatography in hair analysis.

Gas chromatography (GC) with the traditional flame ionization (FID) or nitrogen-phosphorus flame ionization (NPD) detection has also found very limited applications in hair analysis, because of poor sensitivity and/or selectivity towards matrix components. However, especially in the early studies, GC was used to detect cloroquine, amphetamines and antidepressants (see Ref. [62]) and, more recently, cocaine and cocaethylene [65]. To the best of our knowledge, the more sensitive electron capture detection (ECD) has not found application in this field, conceivably for insufficient selectivity towards natu-

rally occurring interferent compounds in the hair matrix.

Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) is by far the most important analytical technique presently used in analytical toxicology. It has become the 'gold standard' in terms of admissibility and defensibility in court, because this technique offers good sensitivity, excellent selectivity and mass specificity, and displays a high degree of standardization. On the other hand, GC-MS still shows moderate sample throughput and instrumental ruggedness. Moreover, to achieve optimal analytical performance, sample preparation, mostly by using solid-phase extraction (SPE), is crucial, and derivatization is almost mandatory in most cases.

Electron-impact ionization (EI) using selected ion monitoring (SIM) is generally adopted for routine purposes, and is considered a compromise between sensitivity and selectivity. In fact, often the sensitivity required for hair analysis is not always achievable by the more informative full-scan detection. GC-MS using EI-SIM (two ions) has also been proposed for the simultaneous analysis of multiple drugs of abuse, including amphetamines, opiates, cocaine and methadone [66].

Recent improvements in instrumentation allowed more routine use of chemical ionization (CI), which offers superior sensitivity in GC-MS [67,68].

In most instances, the sensitivity achieved by the widespread 'low-cost' GC-MS instrumentation is sufficient to determine routinely drugs present in hair down to concentrations of 0.5-1.0 ng/mg [62], which is what is required for most drugs of abuse and chronically administered therapeutic drugs.

When much lower concentrations are to be determined, as in the case of THC metabolites, LSD and clenbuterol, the sensitivity of most chromatographic techniques is challenged.

THC and THC-COOH were determined in the low pg/mg range of concentration by using GC-MS-MS [69]. Also, GC-MS with negative-ion chemical ionization (NCI), was reported by Kintz et al. [70] as an alternative method for testing human hair for cannabis, although it is less selective and, conceivably, slightly less sensitive. A method using GC-NCI-MS has also been reported by the same group for the analysis of lorazepam in human hair, showing a sensitivity of 2 pg/mg [38].

Because of its inherent excellent selectivity, GC–MS–MS performed on triple quadrupole has been used for the determination of heroin and metabolites in hair, after direct silylation of the sample and avoiding any purification step, thus achieving a sensitivity of about 25 pg/mg [71].

On the other hand, derivatization with methyl boronic acid followed by GC-MS allowed the detection in the SIM mode of clenbuterol and salbutamol down to about 10 pg/mg of hair [72].

GC-MS analysis of LSD has been hampered by its extremely low levels in hair. To the best of our knowledge, the only GC-MS application so far reported was in combination, for quantification, with a sensitive liquid chromatographic assay using fluorescence detection (see later), and was mostly applied to experimentally treated animals, but also to some human cases [23,73].

High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) has also been used in hair analysis. In effect, HPLC is generally considered more suitable than GC for analysing biological extracts, particularly for polar and thermally labile compounds, and rarely requires derivatization. Sensitivity and selectivity can be excellent, especially when electrochemical and fluorescence detectors are used. Also, with UV absorbance detectors, sensitivity and specificity are acceptable; the latter can be improved by the use of a diode array or fast scanning detection systems, which record on-line the UV spectra of the eluted peaks. The coupling of HPLC to MS is possible through several interfaces, and today it is widely used to study drug metabolism. Finally, HPLC can stand high workloads and can easily be connected with automated sample-preparation devices, thus being extremely suitable for routine and quantitative work.

Notwithstanding these interesting features, HPLC still plays a minor role in hair analysis, although several methods have been published since the middle 1980s for the analysis of morphine, amphetamines and haloperidol [62].

In the more recent literature, HPLC-UV with GC-MS confirmation, has been reported for the determination of antidepressants (nortriptyline, amitriptyline, imipramine etc.), antipsychotics (haloperidol, chlorpromazine, thioridazine) and benzodiazepines in scalp hair with moderate sensitivity (about 1 ng/mg) [35,36].

The use of reversed-phase HPLC coupled with more selective detectors, such as electrochemical (EC) detectors for morphine [74,75] and fluorimetric (FL) for cocaine [76], has permitted the achievement of excellent sensitivities (about 0.02 ng/mg for both analytes in routine conditions). No sample derivatization was needed and sample clean-up was limited to a single-step liquid—liquid extraction, instead of the almost universally used, yet more complex and expensive, SPE. Low-level determinations using HPLC with EC detection have been reported for buprenorphine by Kintz et al. [77] and for clenbuterol in bovine hair by McGrath et al. [78].

HPLC-FL was also used for the determination of ofloxacin, norfloxacin and ciprofloxacin in human hair seriate sections [79,80].

HPLC-FL has also proved useful for the analysis of compounds present in hair at trace concentrations, such as clenbuterol and LSD. In particular, reversed-phase HPLC with fluorescence detection (ex. 310 nm, em. 470 nm) after on-line post-column photo-derivatization by UV irradiation, has allowed the determination of clenbuterol in cattle hair, down to concentrations of 0.2 pg/mg [81]. LSD was also quantitatively determined in hair using ion-pair reversed-phase HPLC and direct fluorescence detection (ex. 315 nm, em. 420 nm) [23,73].

Only quite recently HPLC-MS using electrospray ionization (ESI) has been introduced in hair analysis, where the reported results on cocaine-related substances and opiates are extremely promising in terms of both sensitivity and selectivity [82]. Capillary HPLC with fast atom bombardment-mass spectrometry (FAB-MS) has been used for the determination of theophylline in the hair of patients undergoing chronic theophylline therapy for bronchial asthma [83].

3.3. Electrophoretic/electrokinetic methods

In the last decade, capillary electrophoresis (CE) has established itself as a sound, powerful and extremely versatile analytical tool in forensic toxicology, as witnessed by recent book chapters and review papers [84–86]. CE has been successfully applied to the analysis of seized preparations of illicit or controlled drugs and for the determination of drugs of abuse in biological fluids. However, CE

applications in hair analysis are still limited and, to the best of our knowledge, all come from our group.

In our opinion, CE has several potential advantages which could be useful in hair analysis, among which we can mention: minimal need of sample (with consequent possibility of repeating the analysis many times on the same material), negligible consumption of reagents, peculiar separation mechanisms (which are highly 'orthogonal' to chromatography), high mass sensitivity (even with UV detectors), good-to-excellent concentration sensitivity (with EC or laser-fluorimetric detectors) suitability for coupling with MS, particularly with ESI. As the main weak point of CE, we can mention a limited sensitivity in terms of concentration, particularly with absorbance detectors, due to the short pathlength (usually 20-100 µm) and to the minimal volume of sample which can be injected (in the order of tens of nl).

In our first experiences, we used a simple capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE) separation mode with UV detection at 238 nm for cocaine and 214 nm for morphine analysis [87]. The electropherograms showed excellent selectivity, with virtually no interference from the matrix, but, due to the limited amounts of sample (few nl) which could be injected into the capillary, the sensitivity was moderate (0.2 ng/mg). Later, stacking techniques were developed in order to increase sample loadability with a resulting increase in sensitivity (about 5 times), without sacrificing efficiency [88]. Micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography (MECC) has also been tentatively applied to hair analysis, showing the potential of extending the analytical spectrum to basic, neutral and acidic drugs simultaneously [89].

Quite recently, CZE-ESI-MS has been successfully tested on a large panel of drugs of forensic interest, and, even if not yet applied to hair analysis because of some problems in sensitivity, it looks potentially suitable for application in this challenging field [90]. The recent commercial availability of 'nl electrospray', reportedly permits the coupling of CZE systems to MS, without the need for 'make up' liquid flow, so far necessary to match the μl flow required by the current interfaces. Avoiding the high dilution of the CZE effluent caused by the make up flow, such a development should allow high sensitivity and more efficient CZE-MS-MS operation.

3.4. Other methods

Several other methods have been used to analyze hair for drugs of abuse, mainly for qualitative purposes. Here, we simply mention MS-MS with direct probe injection, which allowed the determination of heroin and 6-monoacetylmorphine in the hair of heroin users, at a time when only morphine was believed to be present [91]. This finding was later valuable for the unambiguous identification of heroin abuse, because the simple presence of morphine in hair per se can derive from past morphine treatments or from other opiates metabolized to morphine.

Tandem mass spectrometry was also used to support studies on the deposition of drugs of abuse into human hair and on hair decontamination [92,93]; although expensive and instrumentally complex, MS-MS, because of its excellent selectivity and identification power, is currently used for investigating real forensic cases in some leading laboratories [94,95].

Recently, ion trap MS (daughter ion spectrometry) has been proposed as a cheaper alternative to MS–MS for cocaine and morphine analysis in hair [96]. Also, ion mobility mass spectrometry (IMS) has been reported as a perspective technique suitable for hair analysis, and applied to cocaine determination [97].

Infrared microscopy was reported to examine the interior of the hair to differentiate passive contamination from the environment and incorporation due to drug use. By microtoming the hair cross-sectionally, infrared spectra were obtained of the cortex and medulla of single hairs. Three-dimensional infrared imaging with Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) microscopy suggested that hydromorphone was in the axial region of hairs of a chronic abuser of this drug [98,99].

4. Conclusion

Hair analysis is probably the most powerful method for investigating past "exposure" to drugs (illicit or therapeutic) by individuals. However, some basic physiological and analytical problems are not yet satisfactorily resolved (e.g. passive contamination of the sample, dose-to-concentration correlation, distribution of the drugs along the hair stalk, in vivo stability, in vitro stability) and, consequently, the results from hair analysis must be interpreted with great caution, especially if they have legal or administrative consequences. The combination of different methods is mandatory to achieve an acceptable degree of analytical reliability; in this respect, GC–MS plays a major role, but also HPLC with selective detectors can be useful, especially for routine applications. At present, CE is a promising complementary technique, already suitable for hair analysis with moderate sensitivity, but excellent selectivity.

However, interpretation problems still remain, which limit the acceptance of this methodology, especially when the results from hair analysis represent a single piece of evidence and can not be supported by concurrent data.

On the other hand, hair analysis could become more suitable for direct application for epidemiological purposes (e.g. to investigate the degree of prevalence of a certain drug in a population), in which "exposure" of a general population to illicit drugs yields useful population data. Moreover, an increasing use of hair analysis may result in reliable methods to investigate chronic treatments with drugs for which the environmental contamination of the sample can be excluded, for instance illicit use of doping agents in sport or of anabolizing drugs in food animal treatment (e.g. clenbuterol), and to control the patients' compliance to long-term therapies. Also, hair analysis for low-molecular-mass endogenous compounds could become a tool to study the average long-term behaviour of metabolites or hormones, without too frequent blood or urine analyses.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge Dr. M. Hamdan, GlaxoWellcome Research Center, Verona, Italy, for his comments regarding the mass spectrometry part.

References

 H. Smith, S. Forshufvud and A. Wassen, Nature, 194 (1962) 725–726.

- [2] R.W. Goldblum, L.R. Goldbaum and W.N. Piper, J. Invest. Dermatol., 22 (1954) 121–128.
- [3] A.M. Baumgartner, P.F. Jones, W.A. Baumgartner and C.T. Black, J. Nucl. Med., 20 (1979) 748–752.
- [4] D.N. Bailey, JAMA, 262 (1989) 3331.
- [5] A.C. Springfield, L.W. Cartmell, A.C. Aufderheide, J. Buikstra and J. Ho, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 269–275.
- [6] B.A. Goldberger, Y.H. Caplan, T. Maguire and E.J. Cone, J. Anal. Toxicol., 15 (1991) 226–231.
- [7] E.J. Cone, D. Yousefnejad, W.D. Darwin and T. Maguire, J. Anal. Toxicol., 15 (1991) 250–255.
- [8] M.R. Harkey and G.L. Henderson, in R.C. Baselt (Editor), Advances in Analytical Toxicology, Vol. II, Year Book Medical Publ., Chicago, 1989, pp. 298~329.
- [9] G.L. Henderson, M.R. Harkey, C. Zhou, R.T. Jones and P. Jacob, J. Anal. Toxicol., 20 (1996) 1–12.
- [10] W.A. Baumgartner and V.A. Hill, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 121–135.
- [11] D.A. Kidwell and D.L. Blank, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 137~143.
- [12] W.A. Baumgartner and V.A. Hill, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 157–160.
- [13] D.L. Blank and D.A. Kidwell, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 145–156.
- [14] E.J. Cone and W.-L. Wang, in E.J. Cone, M.J. Welch and M.B. Grigson Babecki (Editors), Hair Testing for Drugs of Abuse: International Research on Standards and Technology, National Institute on Drug Abuse, Rockville, MD, 1995, NIH Publication No. 95-3727, pp. 121–132.
- [15] D.A. Kidwell and D.L. Blank, in P. Kintz (Editor), Drug Testing in Hair, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, 1996, pp. 17-68
- [16] E.J. Cone and R. Jufer, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19–23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories, General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 51–59.
- [17] C. Staub, Forensic Sci. Int., 70 (1995) 111-123.
- [18] C.M. Selavka and F. Rieders, Forensic Sci. Int., 70 (1995) 155–164.
- [19] E.J. Cone, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19–23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories, General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 136–160.
- [20] W.H. Harrison, R.M. Gray and L.M. Solomon, Br. J. Dermatol., 91 (1974) 415–418.
- [21] Y. Nakahara, Forensic Sci. Int., 70 (1995) 135-153.
- [22] P. Kintz, V. Cirimele, A. Tracqui and P. Mangin, J. Chromatogr. B, 670 (1995) 162–166.
- [23] Y. Nakahara, R. Kikura, T. Sakamoto, T. Mieczkowski, F. Tagliaro and R.L. Foltz, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19–23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 161–184.

- [24] P. Kintz, V. Cirimele and P. Mangin, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19–23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories, General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 194–202.
- [25] N.J. Haley and D. Hoffman, Clin. Chem., 31 (1985) 1598– 1600
- [26] T. Uematsu, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19–23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories, General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 203–216.
- [27] S.H. Gwent, J.F. Wilson, L.M. Tsanaclis and J.F.C. Wicks, Ther. Drug Monit., 17 (1995) 195–198.
- [28] T. Nilsen, K. Zahlsen and O.G. Nilsen, Pharmacol. Toxicol., 75 (1994) 136-142.
- [29] K. Graham, G. Koren, J. Klein, J. Schneiderman and M. Greenwald, J. Am. Med. Assoc., 262 (1989) 3328~3330.
- [30] P. Kintz and P. Mangin, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 99– 104
- [31] G. Koren, Forensic Sci. Int., 70 (1995) 77-82.
- [32] G.J. DiGregorio, A.P. Ferko, E.J. Barbieri, E.K. Ruck, H. Chawla, D. Keohane, R. Rosenstock and A. Aldano, J. Anal. Toxicol., 18 (1994) 247–250.
- [33] F.J. Couper, I.M. McIntyre and O.H. Drummer, J. Forensic Sci., 40 (1995) 83–86.
- [34] F.J. Couper, I.M. McIntyre and O.H. Drummer, J. Forensic Sci., 40 (1995) 87–90.
- [35] T. Uematsu, R. Sato, K. Suzuki, S. Yamaguki and M. Nakashima, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 37 (1989) 239–244.
- [36] H. Matsuno, T. Uematsu and M. Nakashima, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 29 (1990) 187–194.
- [37] J.J. Sramek, W.A. Baumgartner, T.N. Ahrens, V.A. Hill and N.R. Cutler, Ann. Pharmacoter. 26 (1992) 469–471.
- [38] V. Cirimele, P. Kintz and P. Mangin, Int. J. Legal. Med., 108 (1996) 265–267.
- [39] P. Kintz and P. Mangin, J. Anal. Toxicol., 17 (1993) 408– 410.
- [40] F.P. Smith and M.S. Pomposini, J. Forensic Sci., 26 (1981) 582–586
- [41] J.P. Goullé, J. Noyon, A. Layet, N.F. Rapaport, Y. Vaschalde, Y. Pignier, D. Bouige and F. Jouen, Forensic Sci. Int., 70 (1995) 191–202.
- [42] J. Williams, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19–23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories, General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 443–466.
- [43] W.L. Wang, E.J. Cone and J. Zacny, Forensic Sci. Int., 61 (1993) 65-72.
- [44] H. Sachs, R. Denk and I. Raff, Int. J. Legal Med., 105 (1993) 247-250.
- [45] P. Kintz, V. Cirimele, A. Tracqui and P. Mangin, Int. J. Legal Med., 107 (1995) 267–268.
- [46] P. Kintz, V. Cirimele, Y. Edel, A. Tracqui and P. Mangin, Int. J. Legal Med., 107 (1995) 269–272.

- [47] N. Miyazawa and T. Uematsu, Ther. Drug Monit., 14 (1992) 525–528.
- [48] M.J. Sauer and S.P.L. Anderson, Analyst, 119 (1994) 2553– 2556.
- [49] S.D. Ferrara, L. Tedeschi and G. Frison, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19–23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories, General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 225–260.
- [50] D.L. Blank and D.A. Kidwell, Forensic Sci. Int., 70 (1995) 13–38.
- [51] M. Chiarotti, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 161-170.
- [52] H. Sachs and M. Moeller, in E.J. Cone, M.J. Welch and M.B. Grigson-Babecki (Editors), Hair Testing for Drugs of Abuse: International Research on Standards and Technology, National Institute on Drug Abuse, Rockville, MD, 1995, NIH Publication No. 95-3727, pp. 196–211.
- [53] V. Cirimele, P. Kintz and P. Mangin, in E.J. Cone, M.J. Welch and M.B. Grigson-Babecki (Editors), Hair Testing for Drugs of Abuse: International Research on Standards and Technology, National Institute on Drug Abuse, Rockville, MD, 1995, NIH Publication No. 95-3727, pp. 277–288.
- [54] P. Edder, C. Staub, J.L. Veuthey, I. Pierroz and W. Haerdi, J. Chromatogr. B, 658 (1994) 75–86.
- [55] V. Cirimele, P. Kintz, R. Majdalani and P. Mangin, J. Chromatagr. B, 673 (1995) 173–181.
- [56] M. Cassani and V. Spiehler, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 175–184.
- [57] A. Franceschin, L. Morosini and L. Dell'Anna, Clin. Chem., 33 (1987) 2125.
- [58] P. Kintz, B. Ludes and P. Mangin, J. Forensic Sci., 37 (1992) 328–331.
- [59] F. Tagliaro, M. Marigo, R. Dorizzi and F. Rigolin, Clin. Chem., 34 (1988) 1365–1366.
- [60] A. Polettini, J. Segura, G. Gonzalez, X. de la Torre and M. Montagna, Clin. Chem., 41 (1995) 945–946.
- [61] J. Segura, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19–23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories, General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 351–369.
- [62] M.R. Moeller, J. Chromatogr., 580 (1992) 125-134.
- [63] E. Klug, Z. Rechtsmed., 84 (1980) 189-193.
- [64] A.N. Jeger, R.E. Raas, C. Hamberg and Th. Briellmann, Camag Bibliography Service, 68 (1992) 7.
- [65] S.V. Pirozhkov, R.R. Watson and C.D. Eskelson, Forensic Sci. Int., 57 (1992) 99–107.
- [66] M.R. Moeller, P. Fey and R. Wennig, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 185–206.
- [67] M.R. Harkey, G.L. Henderson and C. Zhou, J. Anal. Toxicol., 15 (1991) 260–265.
- [68] D. Wilkins, D.E. Rollins, J. Seaman, H. Haughey, G. Krueger and R. Foltz, J. Anal. Toxicol., 19 (1995) 269–274.
- [69] T. Mieczkowski, Forensic Sci. Int., 79 (1995) 83-91.
- [70] P. Kintz, V. Cirimele and P. Mangin, J. Forensic Sci., 40 (1995) 619–622.

- [71] A. Polettini, A. Groppi and M. Montagna, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 217–225.
- [72] A. Polettini, M. Montagna, J. Segura and X. de la Torre, J. Mass Spectrom., 31 (1996) 41–54.
- [73] Y. Nakahara, R. Kikura, K. Takahashi R.L. Foltz and T. Mieczkowski, J. Anal. Toxicol., 20 (1996) 323–329.
- [74] F. Tagliaro, G. Carli, F. Cristofori, G. Campagnari and M. Marigo, Chromatographia, 26 (1988) 163–167.
- [75] Ch. Staub and Ch. Robyr, in D.R.A. Uges and R.A. de Zeeuw (Editors), Proc. of the 25th TIAFT Meeting 1988, Groningen, June 27–30, 1988, University Press, Groningen, 1989, pp. 220–229.
- [76] F. Tagliaro, C. Antonioli, Z. De Battisti, S. Ghielmi and M. Marigo, J. Chromatogr., 674 (1994) 207–215.
- [77] P. Kintz, V. Cirimele, Y. Edel, C. Jamey and P. Mangin, J. Forensic Sci., 39 (1994) 1497–1503.
- [78] G.J. McGrath, E. O'Kane, W.F. Smyth and F. Tagliaro, Anal. Chim. Acta, 322 (1996) 159–166.
- [79] T. Uematsu, K. Kondo, S. Yano, T. Yamaguchi, K. Umemura and M. Nakashima, J. Pharm. Sci., 83 (1994) 42–45.
- [80] A. Mizuno, T. Uematsu and M. Nakashima, J. Chromatogr. B, 653 (1994) 187–193.
- [81] Z. De Battisti, G. McGrath, V. Equisetto, P. Caricato, F. Tagliaro and W.F. Smyth, in Applications of HPLC and HPCE in the Biosciences, Prague, September 4-7, 1995, Abstracts, p. 4.
- [82] M.L. Miller, J. Yousof and R. Martz, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19–23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories, General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 282–298.
- [83] Y. Hieda, S. Kashimura, K. Hara and M. Kageura, Nippon Hoigaku Zasshi, 48 (1994) 253–262.
- [84] I.S. Lurie, in J.A. Adamovics (Editor), Analysis of Addictive and Misused Drugs, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1994, pp. 151–219.
- [85] D.M. Northrop, B.R. McCord and J.M. Butler, J. Cap. Elec. 1 (1994) 158–168.
- [86] F. Tagliaro, S. Turrina and F.P. Smith, Forensic Sci. Int., 77 (1996) 211–229.
- [87] F. Tagliaro, C. Poiesi, R. Aiello, R. Dorizzi, S. Ghielmi and M. Marigo, J. Chromatogr., 638 (1993) 303–309.
- [88] F. Tagliaro, Z. Deyl and M. Marigo, in E.J. Cone, M.J. Welch and M.B. Grigson-Babecki (Editors), Hair Testing for Drugs of Abuse: International Research on Standards and Technology, National Institute on Drug Abuse, Rockville, MD, 1995, NIH Publication No. 95-3727, pp. 225-247.
- [89] F. Tagliaro, W.F. Smyth, S. Turrina, Z. Deyl and M. Marigo, Forensic Sci. Int., 70 (1995) 93–104.
- [90] O. Curcuruto, A. Zaramella, M. Hamdan, S. Turrina and F. Tagliaro, Rapid Comm. Mass Spectrom. 9 (1995) 1487– 1491.
- [91] F. Tagliaro, P. Traldi, B. Pelli, S. Maschio, C. Neri and M. Marigo, in G. Piemonte, F. Tagliaro, M. Marigo and A. Frigerio (Editors), Developments in Analytical Methods in Pharmaceutical, Biomedical, and Forensic Sciences, Plenum Press, New York/London, 1987, pp. 115–128.

- [92] D.A. Kidwell, in W.W. Harrison (Editor), Proc. of the 36th Am. Soc. of Mass Spectrometry Conference on Mass Spectrometry and Allied Topics, San Francisco, June 6–10, 1988, pp. 1364–1365.
- [93] D.A. Kidwell, J. Forensic Sci., 38 (1993) 272-284.
- [94] R.M. Martz, Crime Lab. Dig., 15 (1988) 67-73.
- [95] M.L. Miller, B. Donnelly and R. Martz, in E.J. Cone, M.J. Welch and M.B. Grigson-Babecki (Editors), Hair Testing for Drugs of Abuse: International Research on Standards and Technology, National Institute on Drug Abuse, Rockville, MD, 1995, NIH Publication No. 95-3727, pp. 289-311.
- [96] O. Curcuruto, F. Guidugli, P. Traldi, A. Sturaro, F. Tagliaro and M. Marigo, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 6 (1992) 434–437.
- [97] R.A. de Zeeuw, A. Koole, L. Kim and L. Cacciacarro, in R.A. de Zeeuw, I. Al Hosani, S. Al Munthiri and A. Maqbool (Editors), Hair Analysis in Forensic Toxicology, Proc. of the 1995 Int. Conf. and Workshop, Abu Dhabi, Nov. 19-23, 1995, Forensic Science Laboratories, General Directorate of Abu Dhabi Police, Abu Dhabi, 1995, pp. 334-350.

- [98] K.S. Kalasinsky, J. Magluilo, Jr. and T. Schaefer, Forensic Sci. Int., 63 (1993) 253–260.
- [99] K.S. Kalasinsky, J. Magluilo, Jr. and T. Schaefer, J. Anal. Toxicol., 18 (1994) 337–341.
- [100] L. Pötsch, G. Skopp and M.R. Moeller, Forensic Sci. Int., in press.
- [101] V. Cirimele, P. Kintz and P. Mangin, J. Anal. Toxicol., 19 (1995) 331–332.
- [102] L. Pötsch, G. Skopp and J. Becker, Int. J. Med. Leg., 107 (1995) 301–305.